FILED
Court of Appeals
Division III
State of Washington
3/31/2022 12:20 PM
No. 100781-7

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 4/1/2022 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

No. 37790-3-III COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

> VANESSA M. WEAVER, Petitioner,

> > v.

RICHARD M. WEAVER, Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

SMITH GOODFRIEND, P.S.

By: Ian C. Cairns WSBA No. 43210

1619 8th Avenue North Seattle, WA 98109 (206) 624-0974

Attorney for Petitioner

C.	Statement of the Case
D.	Reasons the Court Should Accept Review
	1. The Court of Appeals inverted the statutory presumption in favor of relocation by holding the children's temporary placement with the father pending trial rendered him the "primary" residential parent 13
	2. The Court of Appeals also inverted the relocation presumption by holding a relocating parent bears the burden of presenting evidence a child will succeed in the proposed location.
	3. The Court of Appeals again inverted the presumption in favor of relocation by relying on facts inherent in <i>any</i> relocation
Ε.	Conclusion.

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Page(s)		
STATE CASES		
Clarke v. Clarke, 49 Wn.2d 509, 304 P.2d 673 (1956)30		
Custody of Osborne, 119 Wn. App. 133, 79 P.3d 465 (2003) 12, 23, 24		
In re Combs, 105 Wn. App. 168, 19 P.3d 469, rev. denied, 144 Wn.2d 1013 (2001)		
Marriage of Fahey, 164 Wn. App. 42, 262 P.3d 128 (2011), rev. denied, 173 Wn.2d 1019 (2012) 14, 15, 19, 29		
Marriage of Horner, 151 Wn.2d 884, 93 P.3d 124 (2004)passim		
Marriage of Jackson & Clark, 4 Wn. App.2d 212, 421 P.3d 477 (2018)14, 15		
Marriage of Kim, 179 Wn. App. 232, 317 P.3d 555, rev. denied, 180 Wn.2d 1012 (2014)24		
Marriage of Kovacs, 121 Wn.2d 795, 854 P.2d 629 (1993)16		
Marriage of McNaught, 189 Wn. App. 545, 359 P.3d 811 (2015), rev. denied, 185 Wn.2d 1005 (2016)23, 24, 25, 32		

Marriage of Pape, 139 Wn.2d 694, 989 P.2d 1120 (1999), as corrected (Feb. 15, 2000)29
Marriage of Watson, 132 Wn. App. 222, 130 P.3d 915 (2006)16
Shrauner v. Olsen, 16 Wn. App.2d 384, 483 P.3d 815 (2020)25
STATUTES
RCW 26.09.00232
RCW 26.09.06017
RCW 26.09.191
RCW 26.09.520
WAC 392-172A-0309027
WAC 392-172A-0310527
RULES AND REGULATIONS
RAP 13.4 14, 22, 28, 29, 32

A. Court of Appeals Decision.

Petitioner Vanessa Weaver seeks review of the Court of Appeals' November 18, 2021, decision affirming the trial court's denial of Vanessa's request to relocate with her two sons to Hoquiam from Wenatchee, attached to this petition as Appendix A and cited as "Op. ___." The Court of Appeals granted Vanessa's motion for publication on March 1, 2022. (Appendix B)

B. Issues Presented for Review.

1. The Child Relocation Act ("CRA"), RCW 26.09.520, creates "a rebuttable presumption that the intended relocation of the child will be permitted." Did the Court of Appeals improperly invert this presumption by holding that a temporary order restraining the children's

¹ Consistent with the Court of Appeals' decision, this petition refers to the parties by their first names and their children by the pseudonyms David and Jesse.

relocation pending trial rendered respondent Richard Weaver the "primary" parent at the time of the trial?

- 2. Did the Court of Appeals improperly invert the presumption in favor of relocation by holding that evidence of a child's success in their current location, without countervailing evidence the child will not succeed in the proposed location, is sufficient to rebut the presumption?
- 3. Did the Court of Appeals invert the presumption in favor of relocation by holding facts inherent in any relocation—such as a change in a child's doctor or school—are sufficient to deny relocation?

C. Statement of the Case.

Vanessa and Richard have two sons, born in 2010 and 2012, who both have special needs—David has allergies, asthma, and Li-Fraumeni Syndrome (a condition rendering him susceptible to cancer), and Jesse has autism. (CP 1-16; RP 229-30, 637) As Richard admitted, during the parties' marriage Vanessa was "the primary

person" for David and Jesse. (RP 285) After Vanessa and Richard dissolved their marriage in 2017, the parenting plan provided for joint decision-making for educational, health, and religious decisions, but designated Vanessa the primary residential parent, giving Richard an average visitation of 74 days a year. (CP 19-21; RP 301, 621)

In the spring of 2018, Vanessa learned that her job as an art teacher at Lincoln Elementary in Wenatchee, where both boys were enrolled, was being reduced to half-time. (RP 224, 483-84) Vanessa applied for a position at Wenatchee High School as a full-time art teacher, but was not hired. (RP 484)

Faced with reduced employment and believing she could no longer afford to live in Wenatchee, Vanessa decided to move to Western Washington, which is closer to her support network of family and friends, especially her mother, who lives in Bremerton. (RP 483-86, 494)

Western Washington also offered additional employment opportunities for Vanessa. (RP 485, 493)

After attempting to work with Richard on the children's relocation (RP 491-94; Op. 4), Vanessa, pro se, filed a notice of intent to relocate. (CP 302-05, 324-26) Because the hiring window for full-time teachers in the 2018-19 school year had passed, Vanessa intended to work as a substitute teacher for a year in Western Washington where it is easier to find consistent work as a substitute teacher than in less populous Eastern Washington. (RP 11, 22-23, 485, 491-92) Vanessa also believed that substitute teaching would, as it had in the past, facilitate her networking for full-time employment and evaluating schools the boys might attend. (RP 19-20; *see also* RP 491-93; CP 40, 161-62)

Richard objected to Vanessa's request to relocate.

(CP 27-32) Chelan County Commissioner Tracy Brandt restrained Vanessa from relocating the sons pending trial.

(RP 27-28) Commissioner Brandt told Vanessa her plan "to find a job maybe over there is shaky" and expressed concern the children were not yet enrolled in school. (RP 25-29; CP 161) Vanessa then enrolled the boys at Salish Coast Elementary in Port Townsend, found after-school childcare, secured a location in Port Townsend where the family could live, and applied to work as a substitute teacher in the Port Townsend school district. (CP 252, 256; RP 494) After Vanessa renewed her request for a temporary order allowing her to relocate (CP 251-54), Commissioner Brandt again denied it, telling her that although her plan was "better because you found a school," her plans for housing and employment were "still questionable." (RP 44) Commissioner Brandt also appointed a guardian ad litem to investigate Vanessa's request to relocate. (CP 52)

Unable to relocate with her children, Vanessa remained in Wenatchee and worked as a substitute

teacher. (RP 501-02) In the spring of 2019, Vanessa applied for full-time teaching positions in nearby towns (she was not qualified for any positions in Wenatchee), as well as several districts in Western Washington, and ultimately accepted a full-time position with the Hoquiam School District. (CP 259; RP 68, 505-06, 510) Having secured full-time employment, as well as an apartment in Hoquiam, Vanessa again filed a motion seeking a temporary order allowing her to relocate before the relocation trial. (CP 258-64, 327-30; RP 261-62)

In August 2019, Chelan County Superior Court Judge Travis Brandt ("the trial court") denied Vanessa's motion and a subsequent motion for reconsideration. (CP 331-37) The trial court denied Vanessa's motions after reviewing the guardian ad litem's newly completed report, which recommended the children live with Richard. (RP 98, 348; CP 374-89)

Richard then petitioned to modify the parenting plan to designate him the primary residential parent. (CP 265-71, 285-94) The trial court deferred Richard's petition to trial but ordered that the children be placed with Richard pending trial unless Vanessa stopped working in Hoquiam. (CP 298, 333) Vanessa, having just signed a one-year employment contract, did not want to break her contract for fear of endangering her future employability and reluctantly elected to remain in Hoquiam. (RP 521, 589) As a result, the boys began living with Richard at the end of September 2019 pursuant to a temporary parenting plan. (Op. 11; RP 169-78)

After a three-day bench trial in August 2020 at which Vanessa, Richard, and the guardian ad litem testified, the trial court denied Vanessa's relocation petition. (CP 122-26) The trial court found that Vanessa "basically was forced into a situation where she had to move because her position was being cut back and she wasn't able to find anything

around here" (RP 724), and that her "resources will increase presently residing on the west side of the state." (FF 5.h, CP 124; FF 5.k ("the mother has obtained full-time employment where she resides"), CP 124-25)

The trial court further found that "[b]oth parties have a strong relationship with the children but the parties parenting styles are different" and that "[b]oth parents are involved with the needs of the children." (FF 5.a, CP 123) Although the trial court accepted the guardian ad litem's testimony that "[t]he father has more stability than the mother when it comes to the care of the children" (FF 5.a, CP 123), it rejected the guardian ad litem's criticisms of Vanessa's parenting, echoed by Richard, including the criticism the family home was "cluttered," and instead found that Vanessa was a fit parent that was "super involved with [the] boys" and that it did not "have any issues really with [her] parenting style overall" and did not "take issue with the mother's ability to parent these children." (RP 727)

The trial court nonetheless denied relocation because moving would disrupt the boys' "routine and structure" by requiring "the finding and hiring and retention of medical doctors, specialists and others pertaining to the children." (FF 5.g, CP 124; see also FF 5.c, CP 124 ("[r]elocating the children would require that new contacts in all areas of the children's development be located.")) The trial court acknowledged "it would be possible for [Vanessa] to provide [routine and structure] at some point" but was not willing to allow the relocation because "it's unknown how long that would take." (RP 725; see also FF 5.g, CP 124 ("the mother may have eventually been able to provide [routine and structure] for the youngest child")) Having denied relocation, the trial court modified the parenting plan to designate Richard the primary residential parent. (CP 127-51) The trial court acknowledged that, absent her request for relocation, Vanessa would have remained the primary residential parent. (RP 727)

Vanessa appealed arguing the trial court ignored the presumption in favor of relocation in RCW 26.09.520 and improperly shifted the burden of proof to her. (*See generally* App. Br. 16-41) Richard argued in response that Vanessa "forfeited" the presumption in favor of relocation and that he became "the primary residential parent" because the trial court's temporary order forced Vanessa to relocate without the children and they lived with him for eleven months before trial. (Resp. Br. 1, 43-48)

The Court of Appeals affirmed in a November 18, 2021, unpublished decision, which it then published on March 1, 2022. Acknowledging a conflict between Court of Appeals' precedent on the issue, the Court of Appeals "question[ed] whether a parent should receive the presumption when the children have resided with the other parent for a majority of the time for at least the last year"

but said it would nonetheless apply the relocation presumption in Vanessa's favor. (Op. 24-25) The Court of Appeals then held the trial court properly denied relocation because "Richard had primary custody of the boys at the time of trial," and relocating would "end the current relationship with the father." (Op. 38) The Court of Appeals also placed the burden on Vanessa to "present evidence of opportunities for the boys in the Hoquiam area," because it did not believe Richard should be required to prove "a negative," i.e., "that the children's needs would not be served in the Hoquiam area should they relocate." (Op. 34, 37) The Court of Appeals further held the trial court properly denied relocation based on its "concern about any relocation disrupting the children's connection to their school and health care providers." (Op. 32)

D. Reasons the Court Should Accept Review.

The Child Relocation Act ("CRA"), RCW 26.09.520, creates "a rebuttable presumption that the intended

relocation of the child will be permitted." The presumption in favor of relocation "incorporates and gives substantial weight to the traditional presumption that a fit parent will act in the best interests of her child" and "shifts the analysis away from only the best interests of the child to an analysis that focuses on both the child and the relocating person." *Marriage of Horner*, 151 Wn.2d 884, 887, 895, 93 P.3d 124 (2004) (quoting *Custody of Osborne*, 119 Wn. App. 133, 144, 79 P.3d 465 (2003)).

The Court of Appeals, in conflict with its own precedent, repeatedly inverted this presumption to disfavor relocation. As this Court has previously recognized, "[t]he lower courts' inconsistent application of RCW 26.09.520 demonstrates that [the Court's] guidance is necessary." *Horner*, 151 Wn.2d at 892. It has been 18 years since this Court last addressed the CRA in *Horner*. The time is ripe for this Court to again provide necessary guidance to the lower courts to resolve their conflicting

interpretations of the CRA, which this Court has acknowledged is an issue of "substantial public interest." *Horner*, 151 Wn.2d at 886.

1. The Court of Appeals inverted the statutory presumption in favor of relocation by holding the children's temporary placement with the father pending trial rendered him the "primary" residential parent.

In this case, because a temporary order restrained the sons' relocation, placing them temporarily with Richard pending trial, the Court of Appeals "question[ed] whether a parent should receive the presumption when the children have resided with the other parent for a majority of the time for at least the last year." (Op. 24-25) While acknowledging "[t]wo divisions of this court disagree as to how a parent qualifies for the presumption in favor of relocation" the Court purported to avoid the issue, denying it had accepted Richard's argument Vanessa "forfeited" the presumption in favor of relocation by relocating without

the children prior to trial. (Op. 24-25; *see also* Resp. Br. 46-47) But the Court of Appeals' reasoning confirms it did not apply the presumption and instead did as Richard asked by affirming the denial of relocation based on his status as the "primary" parent at the time of trial. The Court of Appeals' reliance on a temporary order to invert the presumption in favor of relocation conflicts with Washington precedent and involves an issue of substantial public interest warranting review. RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(2), (4).

As the Court of Appeals acknowledged, its decision resurfaces the conflict between Division II's decision in *Marriage of Fahey*, 164 Wn. App. 42, 262 P.3d 128 (2011), *rev. denied*, 173 Wn.2d 1019 (2012), and Division III's decision in *Marriage of Jackson & Clark*, 4 Wn. App.2d 212, 421 P.3d 477 (2018). In *Fahey*, Division II rejected the father's argument that the mother, the primary residential parent under the parenting plan, was not entitled to the relocation presumption because he "actually had a

majority of the residential time with the children," including during the four months before trial when the trial court entered a temporary order "requiring that the children remain in Western Washington" with the father pending the outcome of the relocation trial after the mother began a new job in Eastern Washington. 164 Wn. App. at 60, ¶¶ 35-36 (emphasis in original). Judge Armstrong dissented, stating he did not believe "the wording of a parenting plan" should "control[] over the reality of where the children reside a majority of the time." Fahey, 164 Wn. App. at 71, ¶ 67. In Jackson, Division III "disapprove[d] of Fahey" and explained it agreed with Judge Armstrong. 4 Wn. App.2d at 218-19, ¶¶ 19-20.

Fahey, however, is consistent with other precedent from this Court and the Court of Appeals recognizing the Legislature's intent to prohibit temporary orders from coloring final decisions because—by their very nature—they are based on incomplete, and often rushed,

consideration. See Marriage of Kovacs, 121 Wn.2d 795, 808, 854 P.2d 629 (1993) (recognizing "the Legislature's intent ... that the parent who had been awarded temporary residential placement of the child *not* be given unfair advantage when the permanent parenting plan was entered.") (emphasis in original); Marriage of Watson, 132 Wn. App. 222, 234, ¶ 35, 130 P.3d 915 (2006) ("the provisions of a temporary parenting plan or other temporary order should not adversely affect the final determination of a parent's rights."); In re Combs, 105 Wn. App. 168, 176, 19 P.3d 469 ("To the extent the trial court's finding applies a presumption in favor of Ms. Combs on the basis of her status as the temporary residential parent, it clearly was not based on tenable reasons and was an abuse of discretion."), rev. denied, 144 Wn.2d 1013 (2001). The Legislature's intent to prohibit temporary orders from coloring final orders is reflected in RCW 26.09.191(5), which provides that "in entering a permanent parenting plan, the court shall not draw any presumptions from the provisions of the temporary parenting plan," and RCW 26.09.060(10)(a), which provides that a temporary order "does not prejudice the rights of a party or any child which are to be adjudicated at subsequent hearings in the proceeding."

Here, despite the Court of Appeals' assertion that it avoided the issue of whether a relocating parent is entitled to the presumption in favor of relocation when the children have been residing a majority of the time with the other parent by "apply[ing] the relocation presumption" (Op. 25), it is clear from its decision that it did not. In holding that the third, sixth, and eighth relocation factors² disfavored relocation, the Court focused on the children's

² These factors ask the trial court to weigh the harm the child will suffer because of disrupting contact with each parent, the impacts on development caused by allowing or preventing relocation, and the resources and opportunities available to the child in their current and proposed locations. *See* RCW 26.09.520(3), (6), (8).

situation immediately prior to trial when living with Richard under a temporary order, stressing "the boys had spent the past year with Richard," that "at the time of trial Richard was fulfilling the [ir] needs," that "Richard had primary custody of the boys at the time of trial," and that relocation would "end the current relationship with the father." (Op. 32, 35, 38, emphasis added)

The Court of Appeals thus denied Vanessa—who was undisputedly the children's primary residential parent based on both the parenting plan and the reality of where the children resided when she filed her notice of intent to relocate—the relocation presumption because the trial court's temporary order restraining the children's relocation pending trial rendered Richard the "primary" parent at the time of trial. The Court's decision flies in the face of Washington law by transmuting a temporary order into a permanent order even though, as the trial court itself recognized, its temporary order was not "vetted through a

trial." (RP 141-42) Even Judge Armstrong in his *Fahey* dissent disclaimed any reliance on residential time that was a result of the trial court's temporary order and instead relied only on residential time predating the temporary order. *See* 164 Wn. App. at 72, n.13. Yet, here, the Court of Appeals repeatedly relied on the children's temporary placement with Richard for less than a year—in contrast with Vanessa's seven and nine years as primary parent—to deny relocation.

The injustice of using temporary orders to nullify the relocation presumption is exemplified by this case. Here, Vanessa "forfeited" the presumption because—through no fault of her own—she enjoyed neither the employment, transportation, nor childcare necessary for her to continue living in Wenatchee and despite the fact she had, as instructed by a commissioner, secured a full-time job, a school for the boys, and an apartment in her new location, as well as transportation and childcare. (CP 258-64, 327-

30; RP 261-62, 484, 510, 520-21) Vanessa's only "choice" to avoid this result was to jeopardize her career (and thus her ability to support her children) by breaching the full-time employment contact she had just signed. The relocation presumption is intended to prevent placing primary residential parents in this dilemma.

This Court should grant review and address the lingering split between the appellate divisions regarding when and how to apply the presumption in favor of relocation.

2. The Court of Appeals also inverted the relocation presumption by holding a relocating parent bears the burden of presenting evidence a child will succeed in the proposed location.

The relocation presumption applies in favor of "[t]he person proposing to relocate with the child"—here Vanessa—and their "intended relocation of the child;" the "person entitled to object to the intended relocation"—here Richard—must "rebut the presumption." RCW 26.09.520.

As this Court stressed in *Horner*, "[t]he burden of overcoming th[e] presumption is on the objecting party, who can prevail only by demonstrating that the *detrimental* effect of the relocation upon the child outweighs the benefit of the change to the child and the relocating person." 151 Wn.2d at 895 (quoted source omitted, emphasis added).³

By affirming the trial court's decision denying relocation, the Court of Appeals shifted the burden to Vanessa to prove that the resources in Hoquiam were "better" than in Wenatchee. The trial court denied relocation because the children's needs were currently met in Wenatchee and Vanessa failed to "convince" it "the opportunities and resources available to the children

³ The only "detriment" the trial court found relocation would cause is a disruption to the boys' "routine and structure" by requiring them to change schools and doctors (FF 5.c, 5.g, CP 124), a fact that is true of virtually every relocation and thus should not be a basis for denying relocation. (*See* § D.3, *infra*)

would... necessarily be better" in her new location than in Wenatchee. (RP 725-26; see also FF 5.c, 5.h, CP 124: finding Vanessa had not proved an "advantage regarding the quality of life and opportunities available" in Hoquiam) The Court of Appeals enshrined this burden shifting in its published decision, placing the burden on Vanessa to "present evidence of opportunities for the boys in the Hoquiam area," explaining the CRA did not require Richard to prove "a negative," i.e., "that the children's needs would not be served in the Hoquiam area should they relocate." (Op. 34-37)

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