FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
5/16/2022 3:59 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

No. 100781-7

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

In re the Marriage of:

VANESSA M. WEAVER,

Petitioner,

v.

RICHARD J. WEAVER,

Respondent.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

One Union Square
600 University St., Ste. 2700
Seattle, WA 98101-3143
(206) 467-1816

McNAUL EBEL NAWROT &
HELGREN PLLC

Theresa M. DeMonte,
WSBA No. 43994
Curtis C. Isacke,
WSBA No. 49303

Attorneys for Respondent

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

IV. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

The Court of Appeals' decision is consistent with the Child Relocation Act ("CRA") and governing precedent.

Under the CRA, the presumption favoring relocation is a “surmountable hurdle” which may be overcome by showing that the detrimental effects of relocation outweigh its benefits to the child and relocating person based on the RCW 26.09.520 factors.

Richard met this hurdle. Far from “inverting” the presumption as the petition contends, both the trial and appellate courts applied the presumption to favor Vanessa’s relocation. Op. 25. Both courts considered each factor, as this Court has instructed, thereby having ensured “proper[] consider[ation of] the interests of the child and the relocating person within the context of the competing interests and circumstances required by the CRA.” *See Marriage of Horner*, 151 Wn.2d 884, 895–96, 93 P.3d 124 (2004).

A. The Court of Appeals Properly Considered Each Relocation Factor

The petition for review incorrectly contends that the Court of Appeals “inverted” the presumption by discussing the situation of the boys at the time of trial (as opposed to a year or

more before trial) regarding the third, sixth, and eighth relocation factors. It bears noting that the trial court’s own ruling and oral articulations discussed the then-current situation, and Vanessa never challenged those factual findings on that basis on appeal. *Compare* RP 723 (“[g]iven ... how the children are doing currently”), 725 (“[David]’s emotional needs are better met with him remaining” with Richard, and Jesse “[i]s thriving”), 726 (relocation would “reduce[]” Richard to seeing the children “every other weekend”); CP 124 (finding Richard “meets” the children’s needs), *with* App. Br. 26–30, 31–35, 37–39. The Court should decline to consider this issue, which was raised for the first time in the petition. *Fisher v. Allstate Ins. Co.*, 136 Wn.2d 240, 252, 961 P.2d 350 (1998).

Moreover, the courts below did *not* invert the presumption. In evaluating the relocation factors, a court properly considers “the strength, nature, quality, extent of involvement, and stability of the child’s relationship with each parent,” which may impact the “detriment[] to the child” of

“disrupting contact” with each parent; how the child’s special needs may be impacted by relocation; and how the child’s relationship with the objecting parent may be “foster[ed] and continue[d].” RCW 26.09.520(1), (3), (6), (8). Vanessa’s suggestion that the trial court should have ignored reality in evaluating these factors—and instead should have hypothesized about how those factors would have applied in a counterfactual universe where the children’s development and relationships had not been impacted by Richard’s care—is at odds with the plain language of the statute, which requires consideration of the “nature” and “quality” of each parent’s relationship with the child and how relocation will impact the child and relocating person. Nor do the cases Vanessa cites compel a different result. Those cases involved entry of or modifications to a permanent parenting plan and required consideration of different factors from those involved in relocation decisions.

Marriage of Kovacs simply held that it was improper to impose a presumption favoring a parent with temporary

residential placement when entering a permanent parenting plan, because the factors to be considered in entering a permanent parenting plan focus on the ability of each parent “to perform the parenting functions for each child *prospectively*.” 121 Wn.2d 795, 809, 854 P.2d 629 (1993) (citation omitted). In the same vein, *In re Combs* concluded that using the fact of temporary placement to break a “tie” when entering a permanent parenting plan suggested an “arguabl[e]” misapplication of a presumption and reasoned that the trial court’s failure to examine the relevant statutory factors constituted an abuse of discretion. 105 Wn. App. 168, 176–77, 19 P.3d 469 (2001).

And *Marriage of Watson* similarly stands only for the proposition that temporary orders *themselves* cannot form the basis for a final determination of a parent’s rights—this case does not require ignoring parental behavior displayed after temporary orders are entered. 132 Wn. App. 222, 234, 130 P.3d 915 (2006) (ruling the trial court’s findings of a lack of

emotional ties were not supported by the evidence where any visitation anxiety resulted from the *litigation itself*, including the impacts of temporary orders, and *not* from any behavior by the father following those temporary orders).

Here, no presumption was drawn in Richard's favor as a result of temporary orders. The Court of Appeals imposed a presumption favoring Vanessa's relocation, which Richard rebutted by proving that the detriments of relocation outweighed its benefits. Indeed, when entering temporary orders the trial court had found that Richard had rebutted the presumption favoring relocation even *before* Vanessa had relocated and while she had the majority of residential time—a determination that Vanessa never appealed. RP 145; CP 333. The petition's argument that the presumption was "inverted" as a result of temporary orders is a fiction; instead, the courts below properly considered the statutory factors in evaluating the detriments and benefits that would *actually* befall Vanessa

and the children upon relocation based on the *actual* behavior of both parents.

The petition for review does not “resurface” a conflict between Division II and III as Vanessa contends, Pet. for Rev. 14, because that conflict relates to whether the relocation presumption applies to the parent with whom the child *actually* spends the majority of residential time or, instead, to the parent designated by the parenting plan as having a majority of residential time. *See* RCW 26.09.430 (relocation notice required only from “a person with whom the child resides a majority of the time” or with “substantially equal residential time”). Here, while Richard argued the presumption need not apply where he actually spent the majority of time with the children—as the trial court’s unchallenged findings established, CP 123—both lower courts in fact applied the presumption in Vanessa’s favor, making any Court of Appeals “conflict” moot in this case. *See* Op. 24–25 (“[W]e decline to resolve this issue

and, like the superior court, apply the relocation presumption.”).

In applying that presumption, the Court of Appeals correctly concluded that the trial court weighed all statutory factors, most of which favored denying relocation, and that Richard had shown that the detrimental impacts of relocation outweighed any benefits. Op. 39–40. As there is no “split” in authority relevant to the petition, this determination presents no basis for review under RAP 13.4.

B. The Court of Appeals Never Held Relocating Parents Bear a Burden of Presenting Evidence a Child Will Succeed in the Proposed Location

The petition for review incorrectly contends that the Court of Appeals shifted a burden to Vanessa to prove that Hoquiam had “better” resources than Wenatchee. Pet. for Rev. 21. This argument relates to the sixth and seventh relocation factors, which require consideration of the impact a relocation would “have on the child’s physical, educational, and emotional development, taking into consideration any special needs of the

child” and “[t]he quality of life, resources, and opportunities available to the child and to the relocating party in the current and proposed geographic locations.” RCW 26.09.520(6), (7).

As Richard argued on appeal, he more than met his burden by presenting evidence that while Vanessa’s economic situation may improve by relocating, the boys’ development would be negatively impacted by moving. *See* Resp. Br. 33–36. Vanessa’s own testimony confirmed that “children with autism,” like Jesse, “have tremendous difficulty with transitions.” RP 618.

Richard produced ample evidence that remaining in Wenatchee would enhance the children’s educational and emotional development in light of his involvement in their education, how well they were doing in school, and his close extended family. *E.g.*, RP 280 (“I’ve built a network for [the boys]. I have family in this greater area. I know where all the services are. We have their friends here. . . . I don’t know of a great, large family [like Richard’s] that Vanessa has.”). Jesse

was finally thriving in school after a regression that teachers had attributed to Vanessa's educational choices, RP 377-78, 442, 453, suggesting that a transition without a solid plan would be harmful. Richard testified that he was unaware of similar services in the Hoquiam area and that he believed that to secure necessary resources "they would have to go clear to Seattle." RP 280. The evidence regarding the children's unique medical, educational, and emotional needs was properly considered, as the CRA requires. RCW 26.09.520(6).

On appeal, Vanessa argued that Richard could meet his burden of showing the detriments of relocation outweighed the benefits only by conclusively showing the boys' needs could *not* be met if they relocated. *See* App. Br. 32. But, as the Court of Appeals recognized, Richard could not be expected to definitively prove the absence of any resources. He presented evidence that the boys were thriving and that Jesse's emotional and educational needs depended on consistency, suggesting that a transition, particularly without a solid plan, would be harmful,

and he testified that he was unaware of any resources to meet the children's needs in Hoquiam. The Court of Appeals properly held that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in finding that Richard had proven this factor favored preventing relocation. Op. 36, 38.

While Richard proved this factor weighed against relocation, it is also true that Vanessa failed to present *any* evidence that the boys' special needs could be adequately met during a transition that, particularly for Jesse, would be far more difficult than for a typical child.² Having spent nearly a year in the Hoquiam area, Vanessa was in a superior position to

² Vanessa's contention that Jesse's IEP would "follow" him to a new district ignores the fact that the receiving district can decline to adopt the prior IEP and instead develop a different IEP. WAC 392-172A-03105(4)(b). It is a reality that special education services vary by district. *See, e.g.,* Eloise Pasachoff, *Special Education, Poverty, and the Limits of Private Enforcement*, 86 Notre Dame L. Rev. 1413, 1427 & n.64 (2011) (discussing studies showing discrepant services across districts).

show that their needs could be met if that were the case. By pointing to an absence of extended family (having been married to Vanessa, he had personal knowledge of her family) or connections, and no evidence of resources available to the boys, Richard showed that relocation would harm the children. The Court of Appeals did not err in noting that Vanessa “sat in the best position” to provide countervailing evidence, yet her testimony “confirmed a lack of autism services for him in Hoquiam.” Op. 37.

Indeed, in closing argument Vanessa stated that her online research had revealed autism services in Seattle and Tacoma—far from Hoquiam, just as Richard had testified. RP 701–02. While Vanessa now insinuates Richard should have done more “Google” searches, Pet. for Rev. 26, she ignores the fact that her *own* online searches only confirmed Richard’s testimony about the absence of local resources. The Court of Appeals properly considered the evidence Richard presented in

affirming the trial court, and there are no grounds to review that determination under RAP 13.4.

C. The Court of Appeals Properly Considered the Children’s Special Needs

The Court of Appeals did not, as Vanessa contends, “invert[] the presumption in favor of relocation by affirming the denial of relocation based on facts that are inherent in any relocation.” Pet. for Rev. 28. As the trial court and Court of Appeals recognized, this was not “any” relocation. It involved the fragile progress and stability of children with special needs, particularly Jesse, who has autism and would suffer from the proposed relocation. Op. 33.

Vanessa herself testified that children with autism, like Jesse, “have tremendous difficulty with transitions.” *See* RP 618. For Jesse to “start over,” particularly without a solid transition plan, risked the progress he had made and stability he had achieved after a regression. *See* RP 377.

As for her lack of a solid transition plan, Vanessa now argues it would have been “unrealistic” for her to be “grounded

or anchored” in her new location unless she had first been “granted permission to take the child[ren] with her,” invoking *Clarke v. Clarke*, 49 Wn.2d 509, 512, 304 P.2d 673 (1956). Pet. for Rev. 30. But *Clarke* is inapt here. Unlike in *Clarke* (which in any event pre-dated the CRA by decades), where the mother had remained in Washington with her child and had not yet relocated to California to join her new spouse, here Vanessa had spent nearly a year in Hoquiam by the time of trial—with the children frequently joining her there for residential time over weekends and vacations. She therefore had every reason to have been “grounded” and oriented to that area and its offerings.

While moving will involve some upheaval for any child, the CRA explicitly acknowledges that a child’s special needs require special consideration. *See* RCW 26.09.520(6) (a trial court must “tak[e] into consideration any special needs of the child”). The Court of Appeals did not generally hold that a “need to avoid ‘change’ is a reason to deny a request to relocate

children with special needs,” as Vanessa contends. Pet. for Rev. 31. Instead, the Court of Appeals, like the trial court below, considered the evidence in *this case* about how *these* children’s special needs impacted the benefits and detriments relating to *this proposed relocation*, including the children’s need for the stability and consistency that Richard’s proximity provided. *See, e.g.*, Op. 33, 35–37. This decision was consistent with the CRA and case law, and review is not warranted.

V. CONCLUSION

The Court of Appeals concluded that the trial court did not err in finding that Richard had demonstrated that relocation would be more harmful than beneficial for David, Jesse, and Vanessa. In an attempt to shoehorn this case into the RAP 13.4 factors, the petition for review mischaracterizes the Court of Appeals’ decision as flouting the CRA and binding precedent. In fact, the Court of Appeals’ decision applied well-worn precedent to the trial court’s findings and articulations, which

were supported by substantial evidence and consideration of the relocation factors as this Court required in *Horner*. This Court should deny review.

I certify that this brief contains 4,964 words, excluding those words exempted from the word count, in compliance with RAP 18.17.